ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Sumter County
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000518

RECEIVED

MAR 28 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

STEPHEN COREY BRYANT,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

MILES E. COLEMAN
Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 799-2000

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

I N D E X

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law by providing inaccurate advice to Petitioner regarding the supposed advantages of pleading guilty, including the erroneous advice that a guilty plea would lessen the probability that Petitioner would be sentenced to death?
- II. Was Petitioner denied the effective assistance of counsel in violation of the United States Constitution and South Carolina statutory law by being deprived of two attorneys during a critical stage of his prosecution, namely the discussions of whether he should plead guilty and his resulting decision to plead guilty?
- III. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law by failing to object to the solicitor's improper request in closing argument that the trial judge send a "message" by sentencing Petitioner to death?
- IV. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance, in violation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and state law, by failing to object to the trial court allowing the prosecutor to present additional evidence in aggravation of punishment — victim impact evidence — after both sides had rested?
- V. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance, in violation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and state law, by failing to preserve for review the trial judge's refusal to allow Petitioner to present testimony from Edward Gause, about whom the defense learned only after completing the case in mitigation? In the alternative, assuming the issue were preserved for review, did appellate counsel provide ineffective assistance, in violation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and state law, by failing to raise the issue on direct appeal?
- VI. Was Petitioner denied due process under the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under state law when the prosecution failed to release the complete computer analysis performed by law enforcement, which was relevant to Petitioner's case in mitigation of punishment because it corroborated Petitioner's statements and supported medical evidence of Petitioner's mental illness?
- VII. Were Petitioner's rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under state law violated because the trial judge failed to properly consider his application as evidenced by the PCR court's wholesale adoption of the state's proposed order?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition for certiorari arises from the ineffective assistance of counsel, denials of due process, and denials of a fair trial that occurred during the prosecution, sentencing, conviction, and direct appeal of Stephen Corey Bryant. On July 20, 2006, in Sumter County, Bryant was indicted on charges of burglary in the second degree, two counts of burglary in the first degree, arson in the second degree, possession of a stolen handgun, three counts of murder, armed robbery, assault and battery with intent to kill, and threatening the life of a public employee.¹ App. 2650-2651; 2653-2654; 2656-2657; 2661-2662; 2666-2667; 2669-2670; 2672-2673. He was separately indicted for assault and battery with intent to kill in Richland County on December 15, 2004. App. 2675-2676. The state had filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty, stating that the murder of Willard Tietjen was committed during the commission of a robbery while armed with a deadly weapon. On August 18, 2008, Bryant pled guilty to all of the foregoing offenses. App. 1378-81; see also App. 2328-36.

In light of the death notice, on September 2, 2008, a sentencing proceeding began in which the state presented evidence in aggravation, App. 28-95; App. 105-704, and the defense presented evidence in mitigation, App. 730-999. The Honorable Thomas A. Russo presided. C. Kelly Jackson and Dudley Saleeby, Jr., prosecuted Petitioner. Jack D. Howle, Jr., and John D. Clark represented Petitioner. App. 1. On September 11, 2008, Judge Russo sentenced Petitioner to death by electrocution or lethal injection and

¹ The final two indictments relate to incidents occurring while Petitioner was incarcerated and awaiting trial.

imposed twelve additional sentences of incarceration, including several concurrent life sentences. App. 1047-1051.

Petitioner timely appealed, and Joseph Savitz represented Petitioner. The brief presented a single issue: Whether the trial judge erred in refusing to allow Petitioner's aunt to testify that she too had been sexually abused by Petitioner's grandfather. See State v. Bryant, 390 S.C. 638, 642, 704 S.E.2d 344, 346 (2011). This Court, finding the trial judge did not abuse his discretion, affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. Id. at 642-43, 704 S.E.2d at 346.

Petitioner promptly moved for a stay of execution and for the appointment of a post-conviction relief ("PCR") judge. App. 1464-1467. On March 3, 2011, this Court issued its stay order. App. 1475-1476. Melissa Armstrong and Heath Taylor were then appointed as PCR counsel and, on May 3, 2011, moved for a continuance of the PCR trial because Petitioner's forensic psychiatrist, Dr. Donna Schwartz-Watts had opined he was legally incompetent. App. 1528-1531. Petitioner's counsel filed his initial application for PCR, App. 1483-1485, and later filed an amended application for PCR, App. 1532-1536. The PCR court held a competency hearing on June 11, 2012, at which Petitioner's psychiatrist indicated that he was not at that time competent but with proper medication could be competent within thirty days. App. 1537-1570. Petitioner's counsel filed a second amended application for PCR on September 29, 2011, App. 1632-1638, and the PCR court held a three-day PCR hearing from October 1-3, 2012, App. 1639-2169.

The PCR court denied Petitioner's application for relief in an order dated December 4, 2012. App. 2572-2625. Petitioner objected to the order and moved for

reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e). App. 2626-33. The PCR court denied the motion. App. 2634-46. This petition for certiorari follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner was raised in a troubled home. As a child, he was physically and sexually abused by his mother, father, grandfather, uncle, and an older half-brother. App. 774, lines 20-25; App. 789, line 25 – App. 790, line 13; App. 814, line 22 – App. 815, line 1; App. 891, line 21 – App. 892, line 4; App. 2399, line 15 – App. 2402, line 6. His absences from school required him to repeat the first grade, and by fourth grade he had received a number of psychological evaluations and was involved with school counselors. App. 815, lines 18-25. IQ tests indicated he had below average intelligence, and he had an early history of attention deficit disorder. App. 816, lines 1-7. At age eight, he learned to smoke marijuana from his parents, App. 884, lines 9-15, and at age fourteen, he was found to have developmental delays and problems with socialization, App. 832, lines 10-17. At age fifteen, he was diagnosed with chronic depression and was prescribed Prozac. App. 819, lines 20-23.

Perhaps not surprisingly, Petitioner's troubled youth led him to act out in nonviolent, but sometimes criminal, ways. He was first institutionalized in the Department of Juvenile Justice at age eleven, and was physically assaulted during his time there. App. 818, line 24 – App. 819, line 9. As a seventeen-year-old, he was indicted for a nonviolent burglary and was sentenced to probation. App. 172, line 21 – App. 173, line 5. Later that year, he was again indicted for another nonviolent burglary second degree and was incarcerated for nearly four years. App. 175, line 1 App. 176, line 4.

After his release, Petitioner completed a year of probation, attending his scheduled appointments, passing all his drug tests, maintaining employment, and making payments

toward restitution. App. 753-758. In August or September of 2004, his parole officer noticed his increasingly unusual behavior during their visits, and Petitioner asked her where he could receive counseling. App. 766, lines 5-25. On the evening of September 30, 2004, Petitioner was attacked and injured while walking down a road. App. 762, lines 3-13; App. 818, lines 3-10. The police later saw him and inquired what happened, and when he reported the incident to his probation officer he stated, “they had better do something or I will.” App. 762, lines 3-13. Days later, on October 5, 2004, Petitioner embarked on an eight-day course of conduct culminating in his arrest and eventual guilty plea to the indictments enumerated above.²

Several of the facts prior to and during Petitioner’s trial and sentencing are notable here, and are explained in greater detail in the argument section below. First, in preparing for trial, Petitioner’s counsel erroneously advised him there were advantages to pleading guilty, namely a lesser chance of receiving the death penalty and a limit on the state’s ability to introduce inflammatory evidence. This advice was premised in part on supposed statistical evidence and on trial counsel’s inaccurate belief regarding the rules of evidence applicable to trial as opposed to a guilty plea sentencing. Furthermore, despite the statutory guarantee that Petitioner be advised and represented by two attorneys, his lead trial counsel was unable to participate in the course of this crucial decision-making phase.

² The facts surrounding Petitioner’s crimes are summarized in this Court’s opinion on his direct appeal and are detailed in the PCR Court’s Order. See Bryant, 390 S.C. at 639-40, 704 S.E.2d at 344-45; App. 2576-2584.

At the conclusion of the sentencing phase, the solicitor, in his closing argument, asked the trial judge to “send a message” with the sentence imposed. App. 1027. Petitioner’s counsel sat silent, failing to object to the solicitor’s impermissible appeal. Likewise, his trial counsel failed to object when the court allowed the State to introduce additional testimony, but refused to allow Petitioner to introduce newly-discovered testimony regarding his mental health. Similarly, his trial counsel failed to object when the trial court refused to provide testimony from a potential witness, and his appellate counsel failed to raise the issue on appeal.

Finally, Petitioner was denied his constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair trial by the state’s failure to disclose two significant pieces of information. The solicitor failed to disclose the existence of a potential witness who had observed Petitioner’s mental state shortly before the murders and who had alerted a police officer to the potential danger. In addition, the state failed to disclose forensic computer evidence from one of the victim’s homes that would have corroborated the testimony of Petitioner’s witnesses. As explained more fully below, each of these failures or concealments deprived Petitioner of his constitutionally and statutorily guaranteed right to effective assistance of counsel, due process of law, and a fair trial.

ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law by providing inaccurate advice to Petitioner regarding the supposed advantages of pleading guilty, including the erroneous advice that a guilty plea would lessen the probability that Petitioner would be sentenced to death.

Relevant facts

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Here, however, Petitioner's trial counsel was ineffective by inaccurately advising and persuading him, based on supposed statistics, that he was more likely to avoid a death sentence if he pled guilty, and by telling him that the state would be prevented from introducing inflammatory evidence if he pled guilty. First, Petitioner was incorrectly advised by his counsel that if he pled guilty he was more likely to avoid a death sentence and to instead receive a life sentence. App. 1806, lines 7-24; App. 1909; App. 2100, lines 4-13. Indeed, each of the three written guilty pleas states:

Upon the basis of the empirical and statistical evidence which exists I understand that should I plead innocent, but then be found guilty by a jury, there exists an increased chance (*i.e.* a statistically significant correlation) that I would more likely be subjected to a sentence of death by that jury than I would if my request to plead guilty and have my sentence determined by the jury be granted.

App. 2317; 2324; 2326; 2333; 2335. Petitioner's counsel stated that this advice and the supposed statistics upon which it was premised were based on information obtained from other lawyers. App. 1908, lines 9-21; App. 1910, lines 2-3. The supposed source of this advice, Teresa Norris, however, has expressly disclaimed it and testified at the PCR

hearing that Petitioner's counsel misunderstood and misrepresented the statistics and that the language quoted above was "misleading at best." Indeed, she stated she was "positive" she had "NEVER advised any attorney in a capital case to advise their client to plead guilty and waive a jury sentencing without a pretrial agreement." App. 2371 at ¶¶ 9-13.

In addition, his counsel advised him that if he were to go to trial and concede his guilt, it would permit the State to play "fast and loose" with the facts, because no evidentiary errors would be preserved for appellate review. App. 2100, lines 14-19; see also App. 1807-1808; App. 2326. Yet again, this advice was incorrect and was actually contradicted by the attorney with whom Petitioner's counsel consulted. App. 2372 at ¶¶ 18-19.

Based on this advice, which turned out to be incorrect or "misleading at best," Petitioner chose to forego his right to a jury trial and chose to plead guilty instead. App. 2121, lines 5-10 (Q: "[I]f it weren't for their advice to plead guilty and your decision to follow that advice, would you have insisted on going to trial?" A: "That's what I planned on doing from the beginning."). Because his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance and the deficient performance prejudiced his case, Petitioner can demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel and this Court should grant certiorari.

Discussion

"Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, 'whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.'" Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466

U.S. at 686). “In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove: (1) that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant’s case.” Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006).

As to the first prong, “In the context of a guilty plea, . . . [the] inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 360, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013) (citations omitted).³ “The second, or “prejudice,” requirement . . . focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Id. (quoting Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)). Stated differently, to demonstrate prejudice, “the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 59.

Other courts have held a defendant’s counsel was deficient when counsel wrongly advised the defendant that if he pled guilty, the state would be limited in the evidence it could present during the sentencing phase regarding the details of the murders. See Leatherwood v. State, 539 So.2d 1378, 1382-84 (Miss. 1989) (finding in PCR appeal that defendant’s counsel’s advice leading to guilty plea was erroneous, and thus vacating guilty plea and remanding). Similarly, numerous courts—both in South Carolina and

³ The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that a defendant knowingly and voluntarily enter a plea of guilty. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969). The Supreme Court has expressly held that the actions of defense counsel may render a plea involuntary and thus violate of due process. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). “A plea may be involuntary when an attorney materially misinforms the defendant of the consequences of the plea.” United States v. Rhodes, 913 F.2d 839, 843 (10th Cir. 1990).

elsewhere—have held that if a criminal defendant’s attorney incorrectly or misleadingly advises him regarding the probability of a more favorable sentencing after a guilty plea, the defendant’s plea is not voluntary and/or is based on the ineffective assistance of counsel. See, e.g., Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991) (holding defendant’s guilty plea was not voluntarily and understandingly made because he was never made aware that he could be sentenced to as much as 200 years but rather was led to believe that he would not get more than ten years); Brown v. State, 306 S.C. 381, 412 S.E.2d 399 (1991) (remanding for new trial where defendant’s guilty plea was not made knowingly and voluntarily because the trial judge had misinformed defendant at guilty plea hearing that he would be eligible for parole after serving one third of his sentence, when in fact defendant was ineligible for parole); see also Meyers v. Gillis, 142 F.3d 664 (3rd Cir. 1998) (granting prisoner’s petition for habeas corpus, holding he was denied the effective assistance of counsel when his attorneys inaccurately advised him, based on a “misleading” and “ambiguous” report and statistics, that a guilty plea would result in a life sentence with the possibility of parole); Hammond v. United States, 528 F.2d 15, 18 (4th Cir. 1975) (holding that defense counsel’s misrepresentation of possible sentence supported claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to defendant who accepted plea agreement); State v. Ysea, 956 P.2d 499 (Ariz. 1998) (setting aside guilty plea and finding ineffective assistance of counsel where the defendant’s trial attorney had wrongly advised him of the availability of the death penalty should he not plead guilty).

Other authorities likewise indicate that the advice provided by Petitioner’s counsel constituted ineffective assistance. The Supreme Court has explicitly approved using the American Bar Association Guidelines on attorney performance in effect at the time of a

defendant's trial as "guides to determining what is reasonable" performance by counsel. See, e.g., Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. 688). The ABA Guidelines advise that "[i]f no written guarantee can be obtained that death will not be imposed following a plea of guilty, counsel should be extremely reluctant to participate in a waiver of the client's trial rights." See ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases § 10.9.2 cmt (2003).⁴ Indeed, the Supreme Court itself has noted that a defendant has little to gain from pleading guilty in a capital case, even when the evidence of guilt is overwhelming: "[P]leading guilty without a guarantee that the prosecution will recommend a life sentence holds little if any benefit for the defendant." Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175, 191 n.6 (2004) (citing ABA Guidelines § 10.9.2 cmt.).

Here, contrary to the advice and assurances of his counsel, Petitioner received no benefit whatsoever from his guilty plea. The PCR court, however, nevertheless concluded that the incorrect and prejudicial advice Petitioner received from his counsel was "reasonable advice." App. 2589. This conclusion stands in stark contrast to the authority noted above—including the ABA Guidelines, courts of other jurisdictions, and the expert advice upon which Petitioner's counsel relied—all of which indicate that a decision to plead guilty with no resulting benefit is patently *unreasonable*. Indeed, the PCR court failed to consider any authority or analogous cases, such as those cited above, to determine whether the furnishing of incorrect and misleading advice leading to a guilty

⁴ Available at http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/2011_build/death_penalty_representation/2003guidelines.authcheckdam.pdf (last visited March 24, 2014).

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