RECEIVED

JUL 30 2014

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

S.C. Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Sumter County

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
(Capital PCR Action)
R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Stephen Corey Bryant,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No.: 2013-000518

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

thorough investigation, and was the product of their sound deliberation and judgment that Shaw's prospects were better with the sentencing judge than with a jury, especially considering the brutal and utterly sadistic facts of the case.").

In sum, the record fully and fairly supports the PCR judge's ruling on this issue regarding statistics. Certiorari review should be denied.

As to the remaining portion of Issue One – whether counsel misadvised on the adherence to evidentiary rules in sentencing, (Petition, p. 12) – that issue was not ruled upon by the PCR judge. Further, Petitioner did not request a ruling on such an argument in the Rule 59 motion. (App. p. 2627). Consequently, Petitioner's second argument within this issue is procedurally barred from review. *Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) ("Because respondent did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review"). Even so, Mr. Howle's testimony shows that the post-trial interpretation of the advice has been misconstrued.

Mr. Howle testified that he advised that there was little to contest or subsequently successfully appeal once guilt was admitted. (App. pp. 1807-1808). This is consistent with the language referenced from the plea tender. (See App. p. 2335).¹⁰ Moreover, it is consistent with harmless error analysis. See, e.g., *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not

¹⁰ The relevant portion reads: "I have been informed that lawyers for the State of South Carolina have argued I could have a jury trial and just tell the jury that I am in-fact guilty. The problem with that argument, as I understand it, is that under the standard of appellate review employed by the South Carolina Supreme Court, then any errors committed by the prosecution or by the Court, would be considered harmless error. It would essentially grant the prosecution a license to do things during my trial they would otherwise be prohibited from doing – all of which could certainly further prejudice the jury against me, destroying any advantage I might have gained in the first place by telling them I am guilty and remorseful for what I have done." (App. pp. 2335-2336).

reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). Even considering the interpretation that Petitioner now assigns the advice, such advice would be largely consistent with recognized strategic concerns. See generally *Florida v. Nixon*, 543 U.S. 175, 191, 125 S.Ct. 551, 562 n. 6 (2004) (“Pleading guilty not only relinquishes trial rights, it increases the likelihood that the State will introduce aggressive evidence of guilt during the sentencing phase, so that the gruesome details of the crime are fresh in the jurors’ minds as they deliberate on the sentence.”).¹¹ Such interpretation, though, does not fit comfortably with Petitioner’s agreement with counsel’s question that he was advised “the state could sort of play fast and loose with the rules.” (See App. pp. 2100). That appears to be an “evidence rule relaxation” question which Respondent submits would be separate and unsupported by the plea tender language and plea counsel’s testimony. However, either way, there was no error in the advice. But again, the particular argument raised was not ruled upon and is procedurally barred from review. *Marlar, supra*. Certiorari review should be denied.

¹¹ Moreover, the advice in the instant case should be considered in context of the litigation Petitioner previously engaged in – attempting to secure a plea and jury sentencing, which our jurisdiction does not allow. See S.C. Code § 16-3-20 (B) (“... if the defendant pleaded guilty, the sentencing proceeding must be conducted before the judge”). See also *State v. Inman*, 395 S.C. 539, 720 S.E.2d 31 (2011) (noting similar challenge to statute decided “against” appellant) (citing *State v. Allen*, 386 S.C. 93, 102, 687 S.E.2d 21, 25 (2009)). The advice and conversations at issue in the instant matter should be considered in light of the fact that some of the discussed options were limited by that lost litigation. (See App. p. 1805; pp. 1822-1823).

II. *Allegation of Deprivation of Two Attorneys Prior to Plea*

Petitioner complains he was denied two attorneys during his discussions leading to the guilty plea, and the denial violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel and his statutory right under state law of the assistance of two attorneys in his capital case. (Petition, p. 17, pp. 20-21). The PCR judge rejected the Sixth Amendment claim finding Mr. Howle had consistently been representing Petitioner “since the charges were initially brought against him.” (App. pp. 2594-2595). Further, the PCR judge found the record supported Mr. Babb spent “tremendous time and resources in preparing the case, along with Mr. Howle, prior to his disability preventing further representation.” (App. pp. 2596-2597). Further still, the PCR judge found that while “Mr. Clark admittedly had limited time to be involved in the case,” the record supported that “he was given all the discovery, meet with the client, and, while he testified his conversations were not so detailed and diverse as they would have been had he had years on the case instead of months, he nonetheless confirmed that he engaged in discussion, agreed with the rationale of the plea, and actively prepared and participated in the sentencing proceedings.” (App. p. 2597).¹²

Petitioner has shown no violation of either his Sixth Amendment right or his statutory right. Petitioner does not question the wealth of work accomplished before Mr.

¹² Petitioner complained in his Rule 59 motion that the PCR judge misconstrued the record, and Mr. Clark did not have “months” in regard to the plea, but only thirty (30) days. (App. p. 2628). The PCR judge explained the use of the term “months” in his comparison: “The record reflects that Mr. Clarke was appointed on July 18, 2008 to replace Mr. Babb. The guilty plea was held August 18, 2008 and the sentencing phase was September 2, 2008. Therefore, Clarke had a month to prepare for the guilt phase and about 6 weeks to prepare for the sentencing phase. The use of “months” may have been an oversight in the Order denying the PCR Application, the error was de minimus and the record shows Mr. Clark represented Applicant longer than a month before the plea and sentencing phases ended.” (App. p. 2639). The PCR judge was clearly aware of and considered the precise dates involved.

Babb was unable to continue due to medical issues. However, Petitioner appears to overlook that this was not a blunt cessation of representation. At the July 18, 2008 hearing formally appointing counsel, Mr. Howle stated: “Mr. Bryant is aware of this and signed a consent on July 11th.” (App. p. 1312). Further the plea judge confirmed at that same hearing that the case was then scheduled to be heard “the weeks of September 1st and September 8th” and that neither Mr. Howle nor Mr. Clark saw any reason or cause that the schedule could not be maintained. (App. p. 1314). Mr. Howle confirmed that Mr. Clark had been given a disc the day before the hearing with “everything on it.” (App. p. 1316). The trial judge allowed Mr. Clark time to review the materials asked, “if any issue does arise for you review of those materials, [to] notify the Court as soon as possible.” (App. p. 1316). Mr. Clark agreed to do so. (App. p. 1317). Additionally, both Mr. Howle and Mr. Clark confirmed that the pre-trial hearings the week of August 25th would not pose a problem. (App. pp. 1318-1320).

As Petitioner correctly states, the decision to plead guilty has been held to be a critical stage in a criminal case. *See, e.g., Missouri v. Frye*, ___ U.S. ___, ___, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1405 (2012) (“Critical stages include arraignments, postindictment interrogations, postindictment lineups, and the entry of a guilty plea.”); *Iowa v. Tovar*, 541 U.S. 77, 81 (2004) (“The entry of a guilty plea, whether to a misdemeanor or a felony charge, ranks as a ‘critical stage’ at which the right to counsel adheres.”). (See Petition, p. 21). However, the record does not show that Applicant was ever deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel during the decision to plead guilty, especially with the continuity of representation in regard to Mr. Howle. Further, the record does not show that Petitioner was deprived of his statutory right to two attorneys for his capital proceedings.

S.C. Code § 16-3-26 (B)(1), provides for the appointment of two attorneys to

represent an indigent capital defendant. The record shows that Mr. Howle was careful in including Petitioner in the transfer of attorneys and that Mr. Clark neither sought nor needed additional time to prepare. In fact, Mr. Clark testified at the PCR hearing, though he agreed with the decision to plead guilty, that decision has essentially been made before he was asked to assume formal representation. (App. pp. 2007-2009; pp. 2019-2022). As Petitioner does not contest the fact of representation of two qualified attorneys during the prior discussions (though he does question the quality of the advice, see Issue I), the factual basis for the instant claim is questionable.

Even so, the requirement of appointing two attorneys in the capital setting derives from state statute, not the Constitution. Thus, to the extent the replacement of counsel process caused a brief infringement upon the statutory right, such situation did not convert the statutory infringement to an error of Constitutional magnitude. Accord *United States v. Shepperson*, 739 F.3d 176, 180 (4th Cir.) (*cert. denied* 134 S.Ct. 2314 (2014) (in capital-eligible offense case, “[b]ecause the right to additional counsel under § 3005 is solely statutory, we hold that the district court was not required to call it to the attention of Shepperson”); *United States v. Blankenship*, 548 F.2d 1118, 1121 (4th Cir.) (*cert. denied* 425 U.S. 978, 96 S.Ct. 2182 (1976)) (distinguishing statutory right to counsel from constitutional right: “Nothing in section 3005 indicates that the constitutional requirement that a defendant be afforded effective assistance of counsel may not be satisfied in a capital case by the appointment of a single attorney; that section merely provides authority for the court to assign additional counsel when necessary in a capital case.”).

Petitioner argues, however, that *State v. Diddlemeyer*, 296 S.C. 235, 239, 371 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1988), supports that he was denied a fair trial for a violation of the statute. (Petition, pp. 20-21). *Diddlemeyer* did not speak in terms of the Sixth Amendment. This

Court, in fact, declined to “decide whether or not the nature of the violation is constitutional or statutory.” 296 S.C. at 238, 371 S.E.2d at 795. Further, this Court’s reasoning was based in large part on the finding of actual errors: “The record is replete with instances of improper testimony and unpreserved exceptions; therefore, it is unnecessary to decide whether or not the nature of the violation is constitutional or statutory” as the result was the failure to secure a fair trial. *Id.* Of note, *neither* of the two attorneys in *Diddlemeyer* met the statutory qualifications. 296 S.C. at 238, 371 S.E.2d at 794. That is clearly not the case here. *Diddlemeyer* does not support that any relief is warranted on the instant record.

Again, Applicant has failed to show a deprivation of constitutionally guaranteed counsel. As the record fully and fairly supports the PCR judge’s decision, certiorari review should be denied.

III.

Allegation Counsel Failed to Objection to Solicitor's Send a Message Argument

Petitioner complains counsel was ineffective in failing to object to that portion of the Solicitor's closing requesting the judge "send a message." (Petition, p. 23). He apparently relies on the following portion of the solicitor's closing for that argument:

Judge Russo, I don't envy the position you're in one bit; but as James Aiken said, you have to make hard decisions and live with them and it takes moral courage. You represent our community in the trial and it's the function of a capital sentencing jury to express the conscience of the community on the ultimate question of life or death. And let there be no doubt, Stephen Corey Bryant through his attorneys [is] going to present himself to the Court [in] the most pathetic manner that he possibly can. And one more time, Judge, he's gonna say, sir, would you help me please. And I ask you to send a message as a representative of our community *to Stephen Corey Bryant* with what you now know. Judge, tell him no. Thank you.

(R. pp. 1026-1027 (emphasis added)). (See Petition, p. 23).

The PCR judge rejected Petitioner's argument as his argument was based on sending to the community, but the argument referenced sending a message *to Petitioner*. (App. p. 2598). In short, the PCR judge found no basis for objection. The argument at issue, when viewed in context, reflects the solicitor alluded to Petitioner's *modus operandi* to "ask for help" in seeking access to homes in order to commit burglary and/or murder. *See generally State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. at 222, 641 S.E.2d at 881 ("We must review the argument in the context of the entire record."). The "message" was merely to tell Petitioner "no," *i.e.*, to reject the claims in mitigation and sentence him to death for his heinous crimes. Thus, the comment – squarely tied to Petitioner – was not in the least improper. *See generally State v. Allen*, 386 S.C. at 99-100, 687 S.E.2d at 24 ("We do not find the trial court's imposition of the death sentence in this case to be the result of any arbitrary factor. In reading the entirety of the court's colloquy, it is clear that the sentence was premised primarily on retribution to this particular defendant, and the fact that the murders were

deliberate, premeditated and cruel.”). Consequently, the record well supports the PCR judge’s ruling: Certiorari should be denied.

Further, to the extent Petitioner contends the solicitor’s request to act for the community, *i.e.*, “I ask you to send a message as a representative of our community,” (see Petition, pp. 24-25), that request is not improper either. It is a simple acknowledgment of the exercise of the community conscience – a permissible argument even in jury settings. *See United States v. Ebron*, 683 F.3d 105, 145-146 (5th Cir. 2012) (referencing “permissible task of acting as the conscience of the community on the question of the appropriate sentence”); *United States v. Davis*, 609 F.3d 663, 688 (5th Cir. 2012) (quoting *Jackson v. Johnson*, 194 F.3d 641, 655 & nn. 54-56 (5th Cir. 1999)) (“[a]lthough the prosecution may not appeal to the jury’s passions and prejudices, the prosecution may appeal to the jury to act as the conscience of the community.”); *United States v. Solivan*, 937 F.2d 1146, 1155 (6th Cir. 1991) (“mere innocuous reference to the community or societal need to convict guilty people” not improper argument). The United States Supreme Court has recognized that “[t]he State has in a capital sentencing proceeding a strong interest in having the jury ‘express the conscience of the community on the ultimate question of life or death.’” *Lowenfield v. Phelps*, 484 U.S. 231, 238 (1988) (quoting *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 510, 519 (1968)). Moreover, this Court has found “[g]eneral deterrence arguments are admissible in the penalty phase....” *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 189, 577 S.E.2d 438, 444 (2003). Thus, the argument was not improper in this sense either, and objection not warranted.¹³ However, the PCR judge correctly reasoned the argument was tailored to Petitioner. Certiorari review should be denied.

¹³ The PCR judge also correctly found that Petitioner is not entitled to relief based on the overwhelming evidence of guilt and aggravation. (App. pp. 2601-2602).

IV.

Allegation Counsel Failed to Objection to Additional Victim Impact Testimony

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